1953

J. Lloyd Mathis and Nellie M. Burtenshaw Mathis v. Alonzo F. Madsen et al : Brief for Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This litigation has all arisen from a contract for the sale and purchase of real estate, dated January 24, 1942, between the Western Reserve Underwriters Corporation, as seller, and plaintiffs, J. Lloyd Mathis and Nellie M. Burtenshaw Mathis and C. E. Kingston, as trustee in trust for Davis County Cooperative Society. By the terms of the supplement to the Contract, (Exhibit A) the seller agreed to convey the property—four-fifths to Mathis and wife and one-fifth to C. E. Kingston as trustee. The purchase price of the property was paid and no controversy arose directly in connection with the purchase. When the full sum of the purchase price was paid, the seller was advised of a controversy and held up the deed.

Immediately upon the execution of the contract, the purchasers went into possession of the property. A memorandum of agreement for the operations on the farm was made as early as March of 1942. (See Plaintiffs' Exhibit R). No serious controversy appears to have arisen as operations were conducted under this memorandum. It is apparent that the parties to the purchase of the property were not in controversy on the 1st day of March, 1944, for on that day, an instrument entitled Farm Lease (Defendants' Exhibit 2) was entered into. J. Lloyd Mathis, Nellie M. Mathis and C. E. Kingston, as trustee in trust for Davis County Co-op are designated as lessors. J. Lloyd Mathis, Nellie M. Mathis, C. H. Owens, Delsa E. Owens, F. L. Hansen, Julia C. Hansen, C. E. Kingston and Allen M. Frandsen, and LaMonda H. Frandsen, his wife, are designated as lessees. The land is described, and the lease is for a period of five years beginning March 1, 1944.

The consideration is "\$1.00 and other lawful consideration, plus 50 per cent of profits of each year's earnings after all expenses, loans, etc., are paid." It is definite and certain that the lessees named took possession of the property at that time, for on the 24th day of May, 1944, they executed and delivered to the Utah Farm Production Credit Association, a crop and chattel mortgage, upon crops grown upon the lands and including a large amount of farm machinery, equipment and a large number of livestock to secure payment of the sum of \$19,054.95. (See Defendants' Exhibit 9).

On the 19th day of February, 1946, C. H. Owens and wife, F. L. Hansen and wife, and J. Lloyd Mathis and wife, executed and delivered to the State Bank of Lehi a crop and chattel mortgage covering crops grown upon the same land and also farm machinery, equipment, and livestock and including 2500 bushels of wheat and 1500 bushels of barley stored in bins on the farm, to secure payment of a loan of \$8500.00.

We call special attention to the farm lease and the two chattel mortgages because it will appear hereafter that the controversies as between the plaintiffs and the Davis County Cooperaitve Society spring directly from the occupation and use of the premises during the period following the farm lease, (Exhibit 2) and indirectly involve the contract between the plaintiffs and the defendants Ferrells (Exhibit C).

We leave for the time being the statement of the facts leading up to the controversy as between the plaintiffs and the Davis County Cooperative Society to take up the statement chronologically of the facts out of which the controversy be-

tween the plaintiffs and the defendants Madsens and the Ferrells arose. To complete the setting, this preliminary observation is important.

About 1945, C. E. Kingston, who was then an officer of the Davis County Co-op, entered the employment of C. Ed. Lewis, as a real estate salesman and while he was so employed, the land described in the original contract of purchase by the plaintiffs and Kingston was listed for sale by the plaintiffs, J. Lloyd Mathis and Nellie M. Mathis and C. E. Kingston, and in connection with the listing of the property, Mathis agreed to pay a real estate commission of five per cent. After the listing, C. Ed. Lewis Company made a preliminary Contract of Sale of the real estate to J. A. Ferrell for the sum of \$140,000.00 signed by J. L. Mathis and C. E. Kingston as sellers (Plaintiffs Exhibit F).

On December 10, 1946, Ferrells paid \$2,000.00 on account of the purchase of the property, (Plaintiffs' Exhibit W) and on the same day, Ferrell paid the sum of \$12,000.00. The terms of sale were apparently modified and this preliminary contract was signed by J. A. Ferrell, Jay Ferrell, Almira Ferrell, J. Lloyd Mathis, Nelie M. Mathis and C. E. Kingston (Exhibit G).

On the 13th day of January, 1947, a formal agreement was made between J. Lloyd Mathis and Nellie M. Mathis, as sellers, and J. A. Ferrell and Almira Ferrel, his wife, and Jay Ferrell, the son, for the sale of the land for \$120,000.00, \$30,000.00 of which was acknowledged as paid in the contract and installments of \$7,500.00 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit C). It is made to appear from the record that all of the parties to the

contract knew of the interest of the Davis County Cooperative Society in the property, for there was written into the contract the following provision:

"In the event there are any liens or encumbrances against said premises other than those herein provided for or referred to, or in the event any liens or encumbrances other than herein provided for shall hereafter accrue against the same by acts or neglect of the Sellers, then the Buyers may at their option, pay and discharge the same and receive credit on the amount then remaining due hereunder in the amount of any such payment or payments and thereafter the payments herein provided to be made may, at the option of the Buyers, be suspended until such a time as such suspended payments shall equal any sums advanced as aforesaid."

Ferrell paid the first installment of \$7,500.00, making total payments of \$37,500.00 and all of the money went to Mathis. There is no claim that the Davis County Cooperative Society received any part of this fund except possibly an advancement that had been made prior to that time in addition to the part payable by the Davis County Co-op. That was returned. The Davis County Cooperative demanded a division of the money. Mathis refused to make it, and a sharp controversy arose by reason of which Ferrell made no further payments except under the terms of the stipulation hereinafter referred to.

On January 23, 1947, while the Ferrell negotiations were going on, and before the Ferrell contract was acknowledged and presumably delivered, February 15, 1947, a letter was addressed to C. Ed. Lewis, acknowledged but not recorded

(Plaintiffs' Exhibit D). The letter is so ambiguous and we think meaningless, that its contents cannot be adequately restated, and certainly we cannot state the legal effect. We, therefore, incorporate it in this statement of the case as follows:

"C. E. Lewis Company
117 East Broadway
Salt Lake City, Utah

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN:

J. L. Mathis and Nellie M. Mathis, his wife; and C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston, his wife, for the Davis County Cooperative Society, Inc., own on an 80%-20% basis of Ranch at Lehi, Utah, formerly known as Saratoga or Austin Brothers Ranch; are in process of liquidation.

When audit is complete final closing of sale of real estate, livestock, feed, and machinery is sold and allotment of funds from these; it is hereby agreed that in event there is not sufficient funds to pay C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston for Davis County Cooperative Society, Inc., their equity, this property shall be transferred from Western Underwriters Corporation to J. L. Mathis and Nellie M. Mathsi, secured by a mortgage at 3% per annum payable to C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston for Davis County Cooperative Society, Inc., out of all future funds derived as per sale except of interest due J. L. Mathis and Nellie M. Mathis until such an amount due C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston for Davis County Cooperative Society, Inc., has been paid in full, hereby waiving all rights and interests in this property.

/s/ C. E. Kingston
/s/ Ethel M. Kingston

On this twenty-third day of January, A. D. 1947 before me personally appeared C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston, his wife who executed and signed the foregoing document.

(Seal) /s/ Ardous Kingston
My Commission Expires: Notary Public."
August 12, 1949.

There is no evidence in the case that C. E. Kingston and/or Ethel M. Kingston, his wife, had any express authority whatsoever to sign this meaningless letter. It was claimed, however, that they had implied authority to do so, and the court so found. We call attention again to the fact that at that time C. E. Kingston was employed by Lewis. His interests were adverse to the interests of the Davis County Cooperative Society. There is no evidence to the effect that either of the Ferrells or the defendant Madsen knew of this letter until after all transactions involving them were closed.

On the 15th day of June, 1948, the Davis County Co-op executed and delivered to Alonzo F. Madsen and Leona F. Madsen, for a valuable consideration, a deed to an undivided one-fifth of the property jointly owned by the plaintiffs and the Davis County Co-op. The deed was regularly recorded and Madsen took possession of one-fifth of the property, which under agreement, constituted 100 acres, and farmed it, taking the crops for 1948, 1949, 1950 and 1951. The court has found that the letter (Exhibit D) operated as a transfer of the undivided one-fifth of the property to Mathis and that the deed from the Davis County Co-op to Madsen was void.

We now come to the stipulation referred to constantly in the record. The court will probably conclude at this stage of

the transactions that the title of the property was involved. Ferrell had no means of making certain that he could ever acquire the full ownership of the property or even that he could reap where he had sown. Something had to be done. Accordingly, all of the parties interested in the property joined in a stipulation, (Plaintiffs' Exhibit B) under the terms of which Ferrell was authorized to sell the property, and out of the proceeds of the sale, to pay to Mathis the sum of \$56,000.00 and to deposit in escrow the balance of what was determined to be the full purchase price payable by Ferrell amounting to \$37,500.00, which with interest, was subsequently determined to be \$39,300.00, in the Clearfield State Bank, Clearfield, Utah, in the joint names of Dan T. Moyle and J. D. Skeen, as attorneys of record in this case. The money is now there on deposit.

In order to clear the title to the property so that it might be sold, it became and was necessary for Ferrell to procure a deed from Madsen and wife to the undivided one-fifth as well as quit claim deeds from other parties to the litigation. He accordingly agreed to pay Madsen one-fifth of the selling price of the property (See Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12). At this point, we desire to add that the matter of the Davis County Cooperative Society's interest was discussed in correspondence between Ferrell and Moyle and Moyle, attorneys for Mathis. Ferrells insisted upon the title being cleared because they knew it was not all in the plaintiff, who had signed the contract before they made payment of the \$30,000.00. In order to satisfy them, on the 25th day of January, 1947, Moyle and Moyle wrote Ferrell with respect to the title and said:

"I will personally see that a proper conveyance is obtained before or at the time the payment is made."

The Western Reserve Underwriters Corporation refused even after the stipulation was made to convey the property to Mathis because it had agreed to convey to him four-fifths and to the Davis County Co-op, one-fifth. Accordingly, it executed and delivered deeds—four-fifths to Mathis and one-fifth to the Davis County Co-op, which, with the Warranty Deed from the Davis County Co-op to Madsen, perfected his title to the one-fifth.

Other facts must necessarily be referred to in our argument.

PENDING LITIGATION, PLEADINGS AND STATUS

On June 30, 1949, Moyle and Moyle, appearing as attorneys for plaintiffs, filed suit in the District Court for Salt Lake County against the Davis County Cooperative Society, Charles W. Kingston, as administrator of the Estate of Charles S. Kingston, deceased, Charles H. Owens, Francis M. Hansen and Allen Frandsen, as defendants, alleging fraud and praying for an accounting, \$50,000.00 general damages and \$10,000.00 punitive or exemplary damages. That suit is at issue, pre-trial has been had, and specifications of particulars wherein it is claimed fraud was perpetrated by the Davis County Cooperative Society has been filed. It is referred to at length in the transcript of the testimony, pages 63 to 72, to which reference will hereinafter be made in detail. While the Salt Lake suit was thus pending and undisposed of, and while the Ferrell

contract was in full force and effect, upon which the plaintiffs had received for their own use and benefit to the exclusion of the Davis County Co-op \$37,500.00, plaintiffs filed this case in the District Court for Utah County, Dan T. Moyle of the firm of Moyle and Moyle appearing as attorney for the plaintiffs, praying for judgment quieting title to the real estate in the plaintiffs.

The defendants all filed Answers, Counter-Claims and Cross-Complaints. The issues thus framed were therefore limited to the question of the ownership of the land. It was in that situation that the Stipulation, appearing on page 75 of the record, was entered into, a pre-trial was had, and the court made an order stating the issues appearing in the record on page 84. The contract of purchase of the ranch was offered and received in evidence as Exhibit A with the supplemental agreement providing for the conveyance to Davis County Co-op of an undivided one-fifth and to the plaintiffs, an undivided four-fifths. It was agreed that the seller, Western Reserve Underwriters Corporation, had been paid in full. The stipulation was received in evidence, the depositing of money in escrow was admitted. The Western Reserve Underwriters Corporation conveyed the property — four-fifths to plaintiffs and one-fifth to Davis County Cooperative Society and the deeds were recorded. It was stipulated that after the contract of purchase of the property was made, it was operated under some arrangement between the plaintiffs, C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston. The letter addressed to E. Ed. Lewis (Exhibit D) was received in evidence subject to proof of authority to execute it and subject to its interpretation. The

deeds to Madsen and wife were admitted, and it was admitted that Madsen and Ferrell were brothers-in-law and that Madsen attended an irrigation meeting, and further, that the total sum of \$39,300.00 was deposited in escrow. The following issues were reserved for submission to the court:

PRE-TRIAL ISSUES OF FACT

(1) The arrangement under which the plaintiffs and C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston operated the farm prior to January 23, 1947.

(2) The authority of C. E. Kingston for such operation and the execution of plaintiffs' Exhibit D.

(3) As to whether there was an estoppel which would operate as confirmation of the authority of Kingston.

(4) On what date, plaintiffs received actual notice of the execution and delivery of the deed (Exhibit 4).

(5) As to the actual knowledge of Madsen and wife of Exhibit D.

(6) As to whether there was a conspiracy between Madsens and Ferrells to defeat plaintiffs' rights.

(7) If Ferrells were entitled to specific performance of Exhibit C and plaintiffs are unable to convey one-fifth of the property, what damages would be sustained by Ferrells?

(8) Was the deed from Davis County Co-op to Madsens fraudulently executed?

(9) Did plaintiffs have knowledge of, or give their consent to the assertion by the Madsens of a claim of title by Madsens of one-fifth of the property?

(10) Did Ferrels purchase Madsens' interest of one-fifth of the property, and if so, upon what terms?

(11) Did Ferrells, after the assertion of claim by Madsen, permit defendants to use 100 acres of the land during 1948, 1949, 1950 and 1951, and if so, the value of the use.

Questions of law were reserved as to the effect of plaintiffs' Exhibit D.

(1) As to notice to Madsens of Exhibit D or knowledge of facts sufficient to put them on notice.

(2) If there was conspiracy between Madsens and Ferrells, the effect of it upon any claims for damages asserted by defendant Ferrell.

(3) If it were determined that the defendants Madsen acquired good title to the one-fifth interest did defendants Ferrell waive any right to strict performance by plaintiff of Exhibit C.

(4) Are defendants Ferrell entitled to the specific performance of Exhibit C, and are they entitled to damages for loss of use of one-fifth interest?

(5) Did plaintiffs have legal right to make contract of sale to Ferrell (Exhibit C)?

(6) What is the basis upon which the escrow money should be paid?

(7) If Ferrells purchased the one-fifth from Madsen, were they justified in so doing?

(8) If they are entitled to reimbursement for the cost of one-fifth, are they entitled to offset such amount against the sale to Mathis?

(9) Assuming that in order to relieve the claim of defendants Madsen to title and possession of one-fifth of the property, were Ferrells justified, as a matter of law, in permitting Madsen to use 100 acres of the land?

(10) The interest of the parties in the money placed in escrow in the Clearfield State Bank.

STATEMENT OF FINDINGS

1. The court found (Finding No. 5) that after the execution of the contract of purchase of the property, the plaintiff "turned full management of all of the property covered thereby over to C. E. Kingston, as trustee in trust, and that the said C. E. Kingston, together with other members of the Society, were in possession of the property until proceedings for the sale of the property and liquidation of the same, and the settlement of the accounts and advance between plaintiff and the Society were had in the latter part of 1946, or the forepart of 1947." Defendants except to that finding and assert that it is contrary to all of the evidence, written and documentary.

2. The court found (Finding No. 7) the signing and

delivery to C. Ed Lewis, a real estate agent, of the letter, Exhibit D.

3. The court found (Finding No. 8) that C. E. Kingston "did considerable work for Lewis and that Exhibit D was executed in the office of C. Ed. Lewis after the plaintiff, J. Lloyd Mathis, had dictated its terms by telephone to the said C. E. Kingston himself and that such instrument was signed and acknowledged upon its date.

4. The court finds (Finding No. 10) that the interest of the Davis County Co-op in and to the real property covered by the contract (Exhibit 8) was by Exhibit D "transferred and conveyed to the plaintiffs upon the conditions subsequent that any balance that might be found to be due to the Davis County Cooperative Society, upon completion of the audit of the transactions by the plaintiffs and the Society and the said C. E. Kingston be secured by mortgage payable to C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston, his wife, for said Davis County Cooperative Society, with interest at 3 per cent."

5. The court found (Finding No. 10) that "such condition subsequent has not as yet matured and the audit showing some disputable items is now before the Third District Court of Salt Lake County for determination." The court found that said Exhibit D and the execution thereof by the said C. E. Kingston was duly and legally, although not expressly by formal action, authorized by the Board of Directors of Davis County Cooperative Society, and by the members thereof.

6. The court found (Finding No. 13) (Tr. 159) that C. E. Kingston, together with other members of the Davis

County Cooperative Society, were in possession of the property from the date of the said Exhibit A and until the proceedings of sale and liquidation at the approximate time of Exhibit D, and that during all of this time, the entire Board of the Society were fully advised of the plans, conditions and proceedings upon and in connection with the property, and frequently affirmed and reaffirmed the powers of the said C. E. Kingston to act for the Society in connection with the property and that such powers were never terminated or modified and that after the execution of said Exhibit D, a copy of the same was a part of the files of the said Society and that all of the acts of C. E. Kingston in the purchase and management of the property were fully approved by the Board and by the membership of the Society and that said Exhibit D was considered by such Board and members to be a transfer of the interest of the Society to plaintiff, and it was so acted upon by them.”

7. The court found (Finding No. 14, Tr. 160) that Ferrells went into possession of the property and operated it during the year 1947, and no demand was made upon them until June of 1948. The court found (Finding No. 15) that the Davis County Cooperative Society ratified and affirmed and approved the acts of Kingston in connection with Exhibit D and is estopped from denying C. E. Kingston had proper authority to execute the same.

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