1953

# J. Lloyd Mathis and Nellie M. Burtenshaw Mathis v. Alonzo F. Madsen et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT POINT I.

EXHIBIT "D" WAS A VALID AND EFFECTIVE TRANSFER OF THE INTEREST OF C. E. KINGSTON AS TRUSTEE-IN-TRUST FOR THE DAVIS COUNTY SOCIETY AND OF THE SOCIETY IN AND TO THE WESTERN RESERVE CONTRACT AND THE PROPERTY COVERED THEREBY.

Respondents make several attacks upon the validity and effectiveness of Exhibit "D", none of which can be sustained.

As to the authority of C. E. Kingston to act for the Society with respect to this Exhibit, this will<sup>1</sup> be considered later. It is then contended by respondents that C. E. Kingston was the agent of C. Ed. Lewis Company, who was in turn the agent of plaintiffs, while at the same time he was the Trustee of the Davis County Society, and therefore adversely interested, and no applied authority could be imputed. In connection with this, the evidence does not sustain respondents' position in respect to Kingston's being the agent of C. Ed. Lewis Company at the time this agreement was executed. The only evidence in this respect is that of C. Ed. Lewis himself (R. 364), which was that he first met Mr. Kingston along about 1945. "That he came in the office and went to work for us as a farm salesman and that he worked about a year—maybe a year and a half." This certainly does not establish that Mr. Kingston was still in the employ of C. Ed. Lewis Company at the time of the execution of this exhibit in January, 1947. In any event, however, this does not appear to be material, for there is no evidence whatsoever that Kingston was personally interested in

the sale, or that he derived any personal benefit from the same. The evidence is not disputed that Mr. Keith Holbrook and Mr. Lewis himself handled the sale for the C. Ed. Lewis Company. Kingston's only interest in the sale was as a seller representing Davis County Society, and it was in this capacity that he signed the Listing Agreement with Mathis for the sale of the property and the Earnest Money Receipts—Exhibits "F" and "G".

The cases cited by appellant with regard to this are not in point, therefore, as Kingston was not personally interested in the sale nor did he derive any personal benefit from the same; his interest and activities were not adverse to the Davis County Society but were for and on its behalf.

Another contention made by appellants is that this instrument was at most but an offer, and if communicated to plaintiffs was not accepted. This also, is not supported by the evidence, as it was undisputed that Mr. Mathis himself dictated the same over the telephone to Mr. Kingston at the office of C. Ed. Lewis Company, where the same was transcribed, and as to its acceptance by respondents this is amply shown by testimony of Mr. Mathis and by Exhibits "K", "L", "O", "P", "S" and defendants' Exhibits "3" and "4", which exhibits represent checks showing payment by or on account of Mr. Mathis to C. E. Kingston for the Davis County Society, and for its benefit.

Appellants repeatedly in their Brief and particularly in their Statement of Fact at page 7, have stated to the

effect that all of the money derived from the sale to Ferrells went to Mathis and that no part of the same was received by the Society. This certainly is contrary to the undisputed evidence in this matter, both as stated in Mathis' testimony and in the above Exhibits.

Mr. Mathis (R. 199) testified that Exhibit "L", a check of C. Ed. Lewis Company in his favor in the sum of \$4,000.00 was endorsed by him payable to C. E. Kingston; also that Exhibit "O" was his own check in the sum of \$7,000.00 payable to C. E. Kingston for the Davis County Co-op. This exhibit contains the endorsement on the back: "Partial payment on sale of Saratoga Ranch, Lehi, Utah", and was endorsed by C. E. Kingston for Davis County Co-op. and C. E. Kingston individually.

Also, that Exhibit "P" was a check in the sum of \$1,000.00 given by him to C. E. Kingston. This exhibit contains the endorsement on the back: "Advanced on Saratoga Ranch Property, and if Necessary not Classified as Payment but a Loan", and is signed by C. E. Kingston. That the endorsement on this check, "Advanced on Saratoga Ranch Property, and if Necessary not Classified as Payment but a Loan", was written by himself for the reason that at the time he figured they had been paid in full (R. 200).

Mr. Mathis further testified (R. 198) that Exhibit "K" was a check in the sum of \$2,000.00 of C. Ed. Lewis Company made payable to him that was endorsed by him and used as a payment to the Western Underwriters Corporation.



Exhibit "S" is a check of J. L. Mathis in the sum of \$3,000.00 payable to Lehi State Bank, being payment on the Chattel Mortgage.

Defendants' Exhibit "3" is a check in the sum of \$9,000.00 of J. L. Mathis, Agent, payable to C. A. Arrington—Western Underwriters Corp., containing the endorsement on the back: "Payment in full for Warranty Deed as per Uniform Real Estate Contract", and Exhibit "4", check to this company of \$187.50 endorsed: "Interest in full of all demands."

From this testimony and these exhibits it therefore is clear that of the \$30,000.00 down payment and the first yearly payment on the Ferrell Contract, the Davis County received a very substantial portion of the sum, and of course, out of this down payment, a commission of \$6,000.00 was paid to Mr. Lewis (R. 198).

It is therefore clearly evident that Mr. Mathis not only accepted this Exhibit "D", but also acted in accordance with its terms and paid over to Mr. Kingston for the Davis County Society all of the money to which both he and Mr. Kingston evidently considered due it; this being indicated by the endorsement on the above mentioned \$1,000.00 check (Exhibit "P").

A further contention made by appellants is that this Exhibit "D" is unintelligible, incomplete, uncertain and ambiguous, and that the Court misinterpreted and misconstrued the same. This is well answered by the following statements taken from the Court's Memorandum Decision in this matter (R. 122). The Court states as follows:

"A mere cursory glance at Exhibit 'D' is sufficient to establish that it is very poorly drawn, is so ambiguous and uncertain as to constitute an outstanding example of the tragedy which sometimes occurs when untrained persons presume to discharge the highly technical functions of legal counsel. That fact alone, however, does not relieve the Court of its responsibility to ascertain its meaning if that can be done under the provisions of law respecting this type of instrument. In searching for the meaning the Court must first examine the language used in the instrument itself and accord to it the weight and effect which the instrument itself may show that the parties intended the words to have. If then its meaning is still ambiguous or uncertain, the Court may consider other contemporaneous writings concerning the same subject matter, and may, if it is still uncertain, consider parole evidence of the parties' intention. See *Burt vs. Stringfellow*, 45 U. 207; 143 P. 234. *Beagley vs. United States Gypsum Co.*, ..... U. ....; 235 P. (2) 783. In *Miller vs. Hancock, et al.*, 67 U. 202; 246 P. 949, the Court says:

'Respondent cites cases to the effect that separate writings may be construed together as containing all the terms of a contract, though only one be signed by the party to be charged: (Citing cases). *The doctrine of these cases is well-nigh elementary. It is at least supported by the great weight of judicial opinion.*' (Emphasis added.)

"The evidence establishes that only one relationship ever existed between the plaintiffs and



C. E. Kingston, and that Exhibit "A" was the inception of that relationship. By the attached supplemental agreement, the parties to the contract agreed that their respective interests therein were four-fifths in plaintiffs and one-fifth in C. E. Kingston, Trustee-in-Trust for Davis County Cooperative Society. In Exhibit "D", it is recited that the plaintiffs and C. E. Kingston 'for the Davis County Cooperative Society, Inc. own on an 80%-20% basis of Ranch at Lehi.' Furthermore they identify the property as the 'Saratoga or Austin Brothers Ranch' and the property is identified in the Exhibit "A" as 'the Austin Brothers Association Farm.' Clearly, then, Exhibit "D" is in respect to the rights of the parties in and to the contract of purchase (Exhibit "A") and the property being purchased thereunder.

"It is clear in the record that upon execution of Exhibit "A", the plaintiffs turned full management of the farm over to C. E. Kingston as Trustee in Trust for Davis County Co-op. The latter made periodic reports to the plaintiffs of the operation, and these reports are before the Court in Exhibits "H", "I" and "J". When these exhibits were offered in evidence, the Court reserved determination of objections of the defendants. It is ordered that they be received as to defendants Kingston and as to Davis County Co-op. In addition, Exhibits "D", "K", "L", "M", "N" and "O" are received as to Kingstons and Davis County Co-op. The plaintiff had received nothing for his investment for the five years that the property was possessed, aside from the value of his equity to the land and to personal property being purchased thereunder. Exhibit "D" clearly indicates that the property, and the parties' respective interests, were 'in process of liquidation,'

and that until the audit was completed, it would not be known whether Davis County Co-op had anything further coming from its equity than it had received prior to the completion of the audit. Both Mathis and Kingston considered that the Davis County Co-op had probably received payment for the latter's interest as is evidenced by the endorsement by Kingston on Plaintiffs' Exhibit "P", stating that the \$1,000.00 paid by that check was 'advanced on Saratoga Ranch Property & if necessary not classified as payment but a loan.'

"It is clear, too, that at the time of making Exhibit "D", the parties had before them the 'sale of Real estate, (Exhibit "C"), livestock, feed and machinery.' It is stated, then, that if, from these sales, there was not realized sufficient funds to pay the equity of C. E. Kingston (and Ethel M. Kingston) for Davis County Co-operative Society, Inc., the property described in Exhibit "A" was to be transferred from the sellers in Exhibit "A" to plaintiffs and the balance of the value of the Kingstons—or Davis County Co-op—was to be 'secured by a mortgage at 3% per annum, payable to C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston for Davis County Cooperative Society, Inc. out of all future funds derived as per sale except of interest due J. L. Mathis and Nellie M. Mathis.' That is certain which is capable of being ascertained and definitely fixed. See 6 Words & Phrases, Perm. Edition, page 41, and cases cited. With this recital, the Kingstons signed and acknowledged the instrument 'hereby waiving all rights and interests in this property,' Austin Brothers Ranch, the metes and bounds description of which are stated in Exhibit "A" and agreeing that the property should be trans-

ferred from Western Underwriters to plaintiffs.”

The Court further states (R. 125) :

“The parties understood the instrument and gave it a practical interpretation consistent only with the foregoing analysis. Immediately upon execution of plaintiff’s Exhibit “C”, Ferrells went into possession of the property and operated it during the year 1947, taking all of the crops, to their use, yet neither C. E. Kingston nor Davis County Co-op, nor the Madsens, demanded a one-fifth share to this date. Considering that operation in the year 1947 may have been unprofitable, they have made no offer to bear one-fifth of any loss that may have occurred. There is, however, no indication, beside the allegation in the pleading, that operation of the farm during the 1947 season was not profitable and from the evidence of previous years operation, Exhibits “H”, “I” and “J”, it must be assumed that it was so.

“A copy of Exhibit “D” was part of the files of the Davis County Co-op. C. W. Kingston saw it there soon after it was made (Tr. 209).

“C. W. Kingston’s first demands upon Mathis in 1948 were for the balance of the money claimed to be due upon their equity from Mathis, which could only have arisen under Exhibit “D”.

“C. W. Kingston and M. H. Brown called upon Mathis under express authority unanimously given by the Board (Exhibit “T”). They demanded settlement for the ‘sale of the property,’ which demand is inconsistent with any other theory than that Davis County Co-op and C. E. Kingston were relying fully upon Exhibit “D” as a conveyance of their interest to plaintiffs subject to final accounting as to equities.

“Thus it must be concluded not only that the instrument Exhibit “D” is not so indefinite, unintelligible or uncertain as to be entitled to no consideration by the Court, but it must also be held that the parties interested in the property at the time fully understood it and gave it the force and effect which the Court has outlined above. The first contention in respect to it is therefore overruled.”

Another contention is that this Exhibit “D” is void under the Statute of Frauds, Utah Code 33-5-1, 33-5-3.

This exhibit is clear and definite in all of its terms, with the exception possibly of the amount of the mortgage or lien that the Davis County Society might have in the event that sufficient funds would not be derived from the final closing of sale of real estate, livestock, feed and machinery, and this, of course, would merely be a mathematical computation, so that there can be nothing indefinite in this respect. Also, this agreement recites: “That J. L. Mathis and Nellie M. Mathis, his wife; and C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston, his wife, for the Davis County Cooperative Society, Inc.”, and the same is signed and acknowledged by C. E. Kingston and Ethel M. Kingston, his wife. At the time of the signing of this agreement, C. E. Kingston was Trustee-in-Trust for the Co-op, and was acting in its behalf, and he had implied authority, if not in fact, actual authority to execute the same on behalf of the Society. This is abundantly shown by the testimony which shows that C. E. Kingston, together with other members of the Society

were in possession of all of the property from the date of Exhibit "A" and until the proceedings of sale for liquidation at the approximate time of Exhibit "D". The minutes of the Co-op (Exhibit "V"), clearly establish that during all of this time the entire Board of the Co-op and the members of the Society were advised of the principal conditions and proceedings upon the property, and frequently affirmed and reaffirmed the powers of C. E. Kingston, and C. W. Kingston testified (R. 392) that so far as he knew, all sales made by him were ratified and approved.

Miss Ardous Kingston, the Co-op's Secretary, testified that Exhibit "V" contains all records of the meetings of the Board of the Society and all its members which pertain to or are connected with the property.

Also it is very significant that after the meeting of December 1946, there was no further action taken either by the Board or its members as to the property, and the Board were fully aware of the fact that negotiations were being conducted for the sale of the property to Ferrells, and that the affairs between the parties for liquidation was in process; and also, that immediately after execution of the Ferrell contract, the members of the Co-op occupying the property removed therefrom and the Ferrells went into possession of all of the property without any interference whatsoever by the Co-op or any one acting for it, and no demand was ever made by the Co-op or any of its members for one-fifth of the profits.

This certainly establishes sufficient authority or a



ratification of the acts of Kingston in executing this exhibit, and therefore the same meets the requirements of the statute. Also, as was well stated by the Court in its Memorandum Decision (R. 129):

“Certainly even if it should be found that C. E. Kingston could not execute Exhibit “D” without express authority, and thus that the Exhibit fails to comply with the Statute pleaded, there was sufficient performance of the agreement to transfer the interest of Davis County Co-op to the plaintiffs, to take it out of the statute.”

The Court then cites (R. 127) from *Utah Mercur Gold Mining Co. vs. Herschel Gold Mining Co.*, 103 U. 249; 134 Pac. 1094, where the plaintiff was seeking to hold good an oral promise to extend a lease on mining properties for an additional five years after expiration of the specified term, the Court said:

“The contract to extend or renew the written lease for five years was oral. It was tantamount to an oral contract to make a lease and option for five years from April 1, 1949. We think such oral agreement to make a written lease is governed by the statute of frauds the same as if an oral lease was made. An oral agreement to make a contract which must be in writing is itself within the statute of frauds. *Paul vs. Layne & Bowler Corp.*, 9 Cal. 2d 561; 71 P. (2) 817.”

“The Court then holds that where a pleading shows that in accordance with such an oral promise, the promisee ‘Continued to explore and develop said claims and carried on an established

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